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COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Freeplay Music, LLC (“Plaintiff” or “FPM”) by and through its
attorneys for its complaint against Ford Motor Company (“Defendant” or “Ford”)

alleges as follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is an action for willful copyright infringement by a multibillion
dollar company too cheap to secure licensing before commercially using registered
works owned by another company. FPM is a popular digital music library that offers
a large online catalog of over 50,000 creative works for licensing under clear terms
of use provided for on the FPM website. The FPM Copyrights are unique registered
works made available by FPM for the material purpose of offering them for paid
licensing for uses in any web (i.e., internet) broadcast commercial videos. FPM’s
business model is based on this premise. A significant market for FPM is thus
licensing its works for a fee to companies to be used for commercial use as music in
advertisements or other synchronized broadcast use on the internet where the music
is placed with audiovisual works. Defendant Ford did exactly that — it used FPM
Copyrights, which are the subject of this action, in its web broadcast advertisements
for Ford automobile products. Defendant used the FPM Copyrights for the explicit
purpose of selling Ford automobiles via broadcast advertising on the internet to

increase its sales. Ford therefore derived revenue and profits as a direct result of
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those infringing videos and commercial web broadcast advertisements. However, as
discussed more fully below, Defendant never acquired a license to use the FPM
Copyrights in any way, though it has continued for years to exploit the FPM
Copyrights to further promote its own business, and Defendant cannot claim that it
obtained the FPM Copyrights any place other than the FPM website, as the FPM
Copyrights involved in this action are exclusively offered only on the FPM website.
As a world-wide company that is in the business of commercially advertising its
automobile products via broadcast on the internet on a global scale, Defendant
knows it must obtain a license to use other’s intellectual property, including and
specifically musical compositions and recordings, in order to synchronize that
copyrighted music in its commercially broadcast video advertisements. Yet, it
willfully and consciously did not do so here on a breathtaking scale. The
infringement is continuing to this very day.

2. FPM owns the 54 duly registered copyrights that Defendant has
infringed, all of which are identified on Exhibit A (the “FPM Copyrights”). FPM has
identified, through TuneSat’s (defined below) audio fingerprint technology, that
Defendant has exploited the FPM Copyrights in at least seventy-four (74) different
promotional videos, i.e., commercials and advertisements on the internet (the
“Infringing Works™), as explained further below and identified in Exhibit B hereto.

In fact, Defendant’s use of the FPM Copyrights is a direct lifting, meaning
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Defendant used the exact works exclusively offered on FPM’s website that require
a license and payment.

3. On April 17, 2017, TuneSat, on behalf of its customer FPM, notified
Defendant of its unauthorized use of certain of FPM’s Copyrights involved herein
and requested proof of licensing. Defendant, having never acquired a license from
FPM, was unable to provide proof of licensing.

4. Since that time, through great effort, FPM was able to identify many
other unauthorized uses by Defendant of the FPM Copyrights. This is no small feat,
considering there are over a billion websites on the internet. There are likely many
other unauthorized uses that have not yet been discovered. For FPM to be able to
find every use of FPM’s works on the internet would be impossible. It is nothing
short of a miracle that FPM has discovered those involved herein. Finding these
infringements is akin to finding a needle in a haystack. Defendant apparently
counted on the difficulty of being caught in deciding to engage in this massive willful
copyright infringement. Defendant is the only party with knowledge of its entire
universe of Infringing Works, not FPM.

5. As Defendant has continued its rampant and widespread infringement,
including continuing infringements from years prior, as well as beginning numerous
new and separate infringements discussed herein, FPM has been left with no choice

but to bring this action against Defendant for its continued and willful unauthorized
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use of FPM’s Copyrights.

6. FPM thus brings this action to vindicate its rights for the willful
infringement of the FPM Copyrights, to recover damages, and requests that this
Court grant the maximum award of statutory damages for willful copyright
infringement in the amount of $150,000.00 per infringed work. In light of
Defendant’s blatant and willful copyright infringement, anything less than the
maximum statutory award of $150,000.00 per infringed work would not get the
attention of a multibillion dollar corporation that continues to commit widespread
infringement. Anything less than the maximum in statutory damages would also not
deter future infringement.

THE PARTIES

7. Plaintiff FPM is a Delaware limited liability company with a principal
place of business at 1650 Broadway, Suite 1108, New York, New York, 10019, and
is the rightful owner of the FPM Copyrights, all duly registered with the United
States Copyright Office. The titles and registration numbers for each work are listed
in Exhibit A.

8. Upon information and belief, Defendant Ford is a company organized
under the laws of the State of Delaware with a principal place of business located at

One American Road, Dearborn, Michigan, 48126.
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JURISDICTION

0. Plaintiff’s claims arise under the Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §§ 101 et
seq. Subject matter jurisdiction over this action is conferred upon this Court by 28
U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338.

10. This Court has general personal jurisdiction over Defendant Ford
because, upon information and belief, its principal place of business is in Dearborn,
Michigan.

11.  This Court has specific personal jurisdiction over Defendant because
its suit-related conduct creates a substantial connection with the State of Michigan.

12.  Upon information and belief, Defendant has generated substantial
revenue from the exploitation of the Infringing Works (as defined below and as
identified in Exhibit B, attached hereto) in Michigan.

13.  Upon information and belief, Defendant exploited the Infringing Works
within the State of Michigan, and/or authorized the same within the State of
Michigan.

14. Upon information and belief, Defendant has continuously and
systematically transacted business within the State of Michigan by operating and
maintaining an interactive website that allows for the transaction of business with
customers located therein.

15.  Upon information and belief, Defendant benefited substantially from
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its exploitation of the Infringing Works within the State of Michigan.

16. Defendant has knowingly and willfully exploited the Infringing Works
within the State of Michigan.

VENUE

17.  Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and
1400(a) because a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claim occurred in
this Judicial District and because Defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction within
this Judicial District.

18.  This case is properly filed in the Eastern District of Michigan, as a
substantial portion of events giving rise to this case occurred within this Judicial
District.

BACKGROUND

I. Introduction to FPM and its Business Model

19. Scott Schreer (“Schreer”), one of America’s most prolific and
performed TV composers and producers, formed FPM in 2001 as a high-quality
online music library. Schreer, whose credits include, among many others, the NFL
on Fox theme, is also a contributing composer to FPM’s music catalog. Schreer has
won 7 Distinguished BMI songwriter of the year awards over the last ten years. BMI
only gives out 25 such awards per year to their more than 1 million current writer

and publisher members.
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20. FPM is one of the world’s most visited and popular online music
production library destination portals for major broadcasters, advertisers, production
studios, prosumers and consumers alike. FPM exclusively offers its music catalog
of over 50,000 creative works, representing 480 composers. Its catalog is available
for licensed commercial use intended to be synchronized with audiovisual works.
FPM has issued more than 4 million internet licenses in the past 3 years alone with
more than 250 million impressions to its website since its inception.

21. FPM'’s website (freeplaymusic.com) clearly states that each of its
songs, including the FPM Copyrights, must be licensed for commercial use. For
example, there is a “Pricing” and a “Shopping Cart” feature prominently located at

the top right of its website:

& SUBMITMUSIC $ PRICING (& LOGIN W

22.  Under the Pricing tab, FPM’s website lists that the annual fee for
Advertising for TV/Radio/Web, for “Web Only,” is $250 per song, per video. The
Web Only usage clearly states that “This license is for the use of one track in one
advertisement, to be posted on unlimited URLs for one (1) year. Please read our
TERMS OF USE carefully about the restrictions of this license.”

23.  Under the Pricing tab, FPM’s website lists that the annual fee for

Adpvertising for “TV/Radio/Web” is $500 per song, per video. The TV/Radio/Web
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usage clearly states that “This license is for the use of one track in one advertisement,
to be posted on unlimited URLs and broadcast on television and/or radio for one (1)
year. Please read our TERMS OF USE carefully about the restrictions of this
license.”

24.  Under the Pricing Tab, FPM’s website lists that for YouTube Business
Use, “For the use of one track in one business-related video, to be posted on
unlimited URLs for one year.” The fee for the YouTube Business Use is $250 for
one year.

25. Additionally, FPM’s website is governed by its Terms of Use
Agreement (“Terms of Use”), entitled “Freeplay Music LLC Terms of Use
Agreement,” which can be found at the following URL:
https://freeplaymusic.com/#/terms. The Terms of Use state the following,

“PLEASE CLICK HERE TO READ MORE ABOUT OUR MUSIC

LICENSING. A WRITTEN LICENSE IS REQUIRED FOR ALL USE OF
FREEPLAY’S MUSIC.” It takes you to the Pricing site, mentioned directly above.
26. As FPM'’s website makes clear, FPM requires users to license each of
its works, including the FPM Copyrights, for any commercial exploitation on
YouTube or otherwise.
27. Prior to downloading and using FPM’s music, including the FPM

Copyrights, users must enter into a written license agreement with FPM that


https://beta.freeplaymusic.com/#/pricing
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corresponds with the user’s intended use of the works (i.e., personal or commercial).
The fee for such licenses varies, as discussed above, but Defendant’s exploitations
of the Infringing Works would have been at least $250 per each track, per each video
use for a one (1) year license.

28. Additionally, the front page of FPM’s website lists the “Top Tracks,”
as shown directly below. There is a shopping cart image below the column that says
“License.” At all relevant times herein, FPM has made it clear that a license is

required for commercial use of its works.

II. Defendant’s Unauthorized Use of the FPM Copyrights

29. FPM is the exclusive owner of the FPM Copyrights, which have been
duly registered with the United States Copyright Office as identified on Exhibit A.

30. TuneSat, LLC (“TuneSat™) is a company that detects uses of works in
its system that are exploited online and on television. TuneSat pairs licensed and
unlicensed uses with the corresponding works. TuneSat, LLC services major music
publishing companies, major record labels, and other copyright owners on a global

10
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scale in 14 countries and through millions of websites. TuneSat has more than
10,000 registered user accounts worldwide. One of its customers is FPM.

31. After identifying Defendant’s uses of twelve (12) of the FPM
Copyrights, TuneSat, on behalf of its customer FPM, sent an e-mail to Defendant on
April 17,2017 identifying the FPM Copyrights at issue and requested that Defendant
send any requisite licenses it claimed to have for those uses by May 1, 2017.

32. Defendant could not and did not provide any requisite licenses for its
use of the twelve (12) FPM Copyrights and has continued to infringe those works
within the last three years through the continued public performance of the
commercial videos on the internet.

33. Defendant’s infringement has not only continued, it has been willful
and knowing. As mentioned above, Defendant is a world-wide company that is in
the business of advertising its automobile products on a global scale, including, most
relevant to this case, on the internet. Defendant knows it must obtain a license to use
other’s intellectual property, including and specifically musical compositions and
recordings, in order to synchronize that copyrighted music in its video
advertisements. Yet, it willfully and consciously did not do so time and time again.
FPM has also now discovered that Defendant has committed new infringements of
FPM Copyrights online in new Infringing Works. All of the unauthorized uses

involved herein are identified in the attached Exhibit B.

11
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34. FPM has taken on a monumental undertaking in searching across the
internet to uncover more than sixty additional infringing videos posted by Defendant
(listed on the attached Exhibit C). As mentioned above, the internet has over a billion
websites, and it is nothing short of a miracle that FPM was even able to find the
infringements identified herein. This is so despite incredible diligence, not required
by law, and far and above beyond that required of a reasonable business. As a result,
for those uses only discovered within the last three years, identified on Exhibit C,
the claims for infringement would only have accrued upon discovery. The
remainder of the infringements involved herein, identified on Exhibit D, which were
known to FPM more than 3 years ago, have continued within the last three years.

35. As discussed above, the FPM Copyrights are made available for the
material purpose of being offered for paid licenses for uses in web commercial
videos, and FPM’s business model is based on this premise. The Infringing Works,
which are web advertisements for Ford automobile products containing the FPM
Copyrights, synchronize the FPM Copyrights with visual images of Ford automobile
products and other visual images as a part of advertisements for those Ford
automobile products, and required a license and payment. In fact, the FPM
Copyrights are a substantial portion of the Infringing Works, often the main sound
in the videos and played for the entirety of the Infringing Works.

36. Because Defendant did not obtain a license, the Infringing Works

12
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diminish the value of the FPM Copyrights and the potential market for the FPM
Copyrights. If the FPM Copyrights are available for free instead of through the
proper license process, then the value and market of FPM Copyrights 1s severely
damaged.

III. Direct Copying

37. As mentioned above, Defendant’s unauthorized uses of the FPM
Copyrights consist of direct actual copying of the FPM Copyrights embedded within
its own promotional videos.

38. Because Defendant’s use of the FPM Copyrights are direct copies, the
qualitative and quantitative similarities are literally identical.

39. There is also no doubt that Defendant had access to the FPM
Copyrights. TuneSat inquired as to whether Defendant had a license for its twelve
(12) uses of the FPM Copyrights on April 17,2017, and Defendant could not provide
licenses for the use of those registered works. Defendant has also never denied using
the FPM Copyrights, and could only have obtained access from the FPM website.
The FPM Copyrights involved in this action are solely and exclusively available on
the FPM website.

V. Continued Exploitation

40. Even after being confronted by TuneSat and FPM in 2017, Defendant

continued to use and exploit the FPM Copyrights in its Infringing Works willfully

13
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and without any regard for FPM’s rights.

41. Over the course of 2017, 2018, and 2019, TuneSat continued to
discover additional infringements of FPM Copyrights in Defendant’s videos, all
together totaling at least fifty-four (54) FPM Copyrights in seventy-four (74) of
Defendant’s videos. Defendant exploited the FPM Copyrights, without
authorization, on YouTube and Facebook, all of which are identified and listed on
Exhibit B, attached hereto. Had FPM not been so vigilant as to use TuneSat to search
Defendant’s videos uploaded across various streaming platforms, there is no way
even a reasonable copyright owner could have discovered these infringements.
Upon information and belief, Defendant continued to improperly exploit the FPM
Copyrights until at least April 16, 2020.

COUNT I:

COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT

42.  FPM respectfully repeats and incorporates by reference the allegations
contained within Paragraphs 1 through 41 as though fully set forth herein.

43. FPM is the legal and beneficial owner of the United States copyright in
all rights, titles, and interests in the sound recordings and musical compositions listed
in Exhibit A attached hereto.

44.  Each of the fifty-four (54) FPM Copyrights have been duly registered

with the U.S. Copyright Office, and registration numbers for the FPM Copyrights

14
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are identified in Exhibit A.

45.  Defendant willfully exploited at least fifty-four (54) FPM Copyrights
at least seventy-four (74) times in commercial videos, as identified in Exhibit B. The
Infringing Works have been viewed thousands of times over the years on YouTube
alone. The infringement has continued until at least April 16, 2020.

46.  As discussed herein, Defendant had access to the FPM Copyrights and
because the uses are a direct copying, the similarities are identical.

47. Defendant knowingly exploited the FPM Copyrights without
authorization to do so.

48. TuneSat sent correspondence to Defendant on April 17, 2017
demanding that it provide valid licenses for its uses of twelve (12) of the FPM
Copyrights.

49. Not only could Defendant not provide any licenses for the twelve (12)
uses of FPM Copyrights it was using at that time, Defendant continued to willfully,
intentionally, and purposefully use and exploit the FPM Copyrights in its Infringing
Works.

50. Over the course of 2017, 2018, and 2019, TuneSat, through repeated
searches, continued to discover additional infringements of FPM Copyrights in
Defendant’s videos, all together totaling at least fifty-four (54) FPM Copyrights in

seventy-four (74) of Defendant’s videos, all of which are identified and listed on

15
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Exhibit B, attached hereto.

51. Defendant’s continuing unauthorized reproduction, distribution, public
performance, synchronization, and display of the FPM Copyrights infringes FPM’s
exclusive rights in violation of the Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §§ 101, ef seq.

52. Defendant’s conduct, at all times relevant to this action, has been
knowing, willful, and with complete disregard to FPM’s rights. Defendant
understood the FPM licensing process yet willfully chose to continue to exploit the
FPM Copyrights over the course of several years without obtaining the necessary
licenses and making the required payments. Defendant obtained significant profit,
through the unauthorized use of the FPM Copyrights. Namely, the FPM Copyrights,
which run throughout many of the advertisements prominently, assisted in the selling
of Ford automobiles. Defendant would not have massively and prominently used the
FPM Copyrights as they did if that were not the case.

53. Asa proximate cause of Defendant’s wrongful conduct, FPM has been
irreparably harmed and suffered actual damages including lost profits and licensing
fees.

54.  Pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(b), FPM is entitled to damages, including
Defendant’s profits, in an amount to be proven at trial.

55.  Pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(c), FPM is alternatively entitled to the

maximum amount of statutory damages, $150,000.00, for willful copyright

16
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infringement of each registered work, which upon information and belief, is not less
than $8,100,000.00.

56. Asadirect and proximate result of Defendant’s infringement, FPM has
incurred attorneys’ fees and costs which are recoverable pursuantto 17 U.S.C. § 505.

57. Defendant’s conduct has caused, is continuing to cause, and will further
cause great damage to FPM, which damages cannot be accurately measured in
monetary terms, and therefore, unless enjoined by the Court, FPM will suffer
irreparable injury, for which FPM is without adequate remedy at law. Accordingly,
FPM is entitled to a permanent injunction pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 502 following
judgment, prohibiting further infringement, reproduction, distribution, sale, public
performance, other use, or exploitation of FPM’s registered works.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, FPM prays for judgment and relief, as follows:

A.  Forjudgment in favor of FPM and against Defendant;

B. A declaration and finding that Defendant has infringed the FPM
Copyrights in violation of the Copyright Act of 1976, as amended, 17 U.S.C. §§ 101,
et seq.;

C. A declaration and finding that Defendant’s infringement of the FPM
Copyrights was knowing, willful, and with complete disregard of FPM’s rights;

D. A permanent injunction requiring Defendant and its agents, servants,

17
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employees, officers, attorneys, successors, licensees, partners, and assigns, and all
persons acting in concert or participation with each or any one of them, to cease
directly and indirectly infringing, and causing, enabling, facilitating, encouraging,
promoting, inducing, and/or participating in the infringement of any of FPM’s rights
protected by the Copyright Act;

E.  Anaward of damages pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(b), including actual
damages, and Defendant’s profits in an amount to be proven at trial, or, in the
alternative, the maximum amount of statutory damages pursuant to 17 U.S.C. §
504(c) for willful infringement of $150,000.00 per infringed work for a cumulative
total of not less than $8,100,000.00;

F. For costs of suit herein, including an award of attorneys’ fees and costs
pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 505 and under other applicable law;

G.  Order that Defendant be required to pay to FPM pre-judgment and post-
judgment interest according to law; and

H.  For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: April 20, 2020 Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/ Howard Hertz
Howard Hertz

MI Bar No. P26653

Hertz Schram PC

1760 S Telegraph
Bloomfield Hills MI 48302

18
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ph: 248.335.5000
fx: 248.335.3346
hhertz@hertzschram.com

Richard S. Busch

TN Bar No. 14594

Pro Hac Vice forthcoming
KING & BALLOW

315 Union Street, Suite 1100
Nashville, TN 37201
Telephone: (615) 726-5422
Facsimile: (615) 726-5417
rbusch@kingballow.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 38(b), and otherwise, FPM

respectfully demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable.

Dated: April 20, 2020 Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/ Howard Hertz
Howard Hertz

MI Bar No. P26653

Hertz Schram PC

1760 S Telegraph
Bloomfield Hills MI 48302
ph: 248.335.5000

fx: 248.335.3346
hhertz@hertzschram.com

Richard S. Busch

TN Bar No. 14594

Pro Hac Vice forthcoming
KING & BALLOW

315 Union Street, Suite 1100
Nashville, TN 37201
Telephone: (615) 726-5422
Facsimile: (615) 726-5417
rbusch@kingballow.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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EXHIBIT A
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aoAT Title of Work Copyright Claimant Copyright Date Copyright

Registration #
1[A Walk in the Sun Freeplay Music LLC 1/23/2006|SR 382-040
2|Against The Grain Freeplay Music LLC 8/4/2003|SR 336-918
3[As Nasty Freeplay Music LLC 1/29/2007|SR 411-915
4|Asian Psycho Freeplay Music LLC 1/30/2006|SR 386-596
5|Bad Moon Freeplay Music LLC 8/4/2003|SR 336-939
6(Blue Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 333-651
7|Bolo Punch Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 335-543
8[Bouncing Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 333-651
9|Call To Me Vocal Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 333-651
10|Cincinnatti Patty Freeplay Music LLC 1/30/2006|SR 378-924
11|Clear Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 333-651
12|Close Encounters Freeplay Music LLC 1/23/2006|SR 374-914
13|Down And Dirty Freeplay Music LLC 8/4/2003|SR 336-918
14 |Drain The Lizard Freeplay Music LLC 1/30/2006|SR 386-596
15|Drop The Bomb Freeplay Music LLC 1/7/2009(SR 633-494
16|Etude Blanc Freeplay Music LLC 8/4/2003|SR 337-059
17|Flying Bass Freeplay Music LLC 1/30/2006|SR 378-924
18|Funky Catch Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 337-058
19|Get Up Freeplay Music LLC 1/23/2006|SR 374-845
20|Glow Freeplay Music LLC 1/23/2006|SR 374-912
21|Going Gone Freeplay Music LLC 1/23/2006|SR 374-912
22|Grunge Garage Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 333-651
23|Guittarras Calientes Freeplay Music LLC 1/23/2006|SR 374-913
24|Happy Now Freeplay Music LLC 1/23/2006|SR 374-913
25|Heartland Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 337-200
26|Holdin Back Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 337-201
27|Honor Freeplay Music LLC 8/6/2003|SR 335-926
28|Hula Balu Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 337-212
29]|Imitator Freeplay Music LLC 1/23/2006|SR 374-912
30[Jubilee Freeplay Music LLC 1/23/2006|SR 382-040
31|Knife Fight Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 333-651
32|Lighter Fluid Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 337-205
33[Mission 5 0 Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 337-557
34|Morning Sunrise Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 333-636
35(Moving Out Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 337-221
36|Patrol Freeplay Music LLC 9/22/2008|SR 633-487




Exhbit A 2

~PC 2 fiig'of Work = V"N >VVe dpyfight claimdntY U €6pyrightBate] '+ E6pyright
Registration #
37|Praise Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 337-200
38|Pulse Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 335-537
39|Queberts Canasta Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 334-609
40|Race To Action Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 335-613
41|Resource Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 336-994
42|Sand Storms Freeplay Music LLC 1/30/2006|SR 386-596
43|Shopping Spree Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 334-609
44|Soul Thang Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 337-201
45(Southsea Freeplay Music LLC 1/30/2006|SR 386-596
46|Summer Trip Freeplay Music LLC 1/30/2006|SR 386-596
47|Swing Cheeze Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 337-557
48|Swingtime Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 334-609
49|The Phoenix Freeplay Music LLC 1/23/2006|SR 374-913
50|Thunderization Freeplay Music LLC 1/30/2006|SR 386-596
51|Violin Fight Freeplay Music LLC 1/23/2006|SR 374-914
52(Walkin The Dog Freeplay Music LLC 7/31/2003|SR 337-201
53|Warriors & Knights Freeplay Music LLC 1/30/2006|SR 386-596
54|Wings Of The Wind Freeplay Music LLC 8/6/2003|SR 335-926

3
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Exhibit B 1
Exhibit B Infringing Uses
Copyright Upload Copyright [Copyright
Use |Title Claimant Infringing Video Title Date Date Registration [Page URL
Veiculo global, made in Brazil:
confira os melhores momentos da
revelagao do #KaConcept, o novo http://www.facebook.com/For
Freeplay carro da Ford que chega em dBrasil/videos/10152085468
1 [Pulse Music LLC 2014. 05/30/2019 | 7/31/2003|SR 335-537 469276
O Ford Mustang acaba de
desembarcar. Confira 0 momento http://www.facebook.com/For
Freeplay em que esse icone, indomavel por dBrasil/videos/19884870911
2 [Bad Moon Music LLC instinto, apareceu por aqui. 11/29/2017 8/4/2003|SR 336-939 68629
Um verdadeiro icone merece uma
apresentagao inesquecivel.
Assista os melhores momentos da
festa de chegada do Ford http://www.facebook.com/For
Freeplay Mustang no Brasil, no Jockey dBrasil/videos/19954528704
3 |Get Up Music LLC Club de S&o Paulo. 07/28/2019 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-845 72051
O Novo Ford Cargo Power
acelerou e mostrou toda a sua
poténcia em Interlagos, no Test http://www.facebook.com/For
Freeplay Drive que aconteceu na Copa dCaminhoes/videos/1646018
4 |Funky Catch Music LLC Truck em Sao Paulo. 08/06/2019 | 7/31/2003[SR 337-058 112371973



https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038264
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038264
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038264
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038145
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038145
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038145
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038140
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038140
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038140
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037247
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037247
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037247
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Nao faltou emogao na etapa que
abriu a temporada 2018 da Copa
Truck, em Cascavel, no Parana.
O lugar mais alto do pddio ficou
com Wellington Cirino na primeira
corrida e com o estreante Giuliano
Losacco na segunda. A préxima
etapa acontece dia 15 de abril, em

http://www.facebook.com/For

Freeplay Guaporé-RS e claro que a Ford dCaminhoes/videos/1712084
5 |Against The Grain [Music LLC estara la! 07/29/2019 8/4/2003|SR 336-918 595527996
Quer saber o que esta por tras da
montagem de um caminh&o de http://www.facebook.com/For
Freeplay corrida? Confira no video como dCaminhoes/videos/2275021
6 |Down And Dirty Music LLC nasce um Ford Copa Truck. 08/06/2019 8/4/2003|SR 336-918 57918017
Freeplay Mustang 2018 - Evento de Pré- http://www.youtube.com/watc
7 [Bad Moon Music LLC Estreia no Brasil 12/06/2017 8/4/2003|SR 336-939 h?v=Rrne7yFTWD4
Freeplay Primeiro Test-drive do Novo http://www.youtube.com/watc
8 |Grunge Garage Music LLC EcoSport 08/09/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=N5r1Ur-I3UM
Freeplay O Novo EcoSport veio para provar http://www.youtube.com/watc
9 |Wings Of The Wind|Music LLC qgue de tecnologia ele entende! 05/23/2013 8/6/2003|SR 335-926 h?v=rZWzPTNmk6M
Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
10 |Glow Music LLC 2012 Ford Focus Comparison 06/29/2012 | 1/23/2006[SR 374-912 h?2v=sWIWSWrgrOo
Jonathan Huberdeau Coaches
Four Lucky Players at Florida
Freeplay Panthers Hockey Summer Camp http://www.youtube.com/watc
11 |Heartland Music LLC 2013 01/24/2014 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-200 h?v=tb6m4x2zz20
Freeplay 2012 Ford Edge Comparison http://www.youtube.com/watc
12 |Close Encounters |[Music LLC Feature 06/29/2012 | 1/23/2006[SR 374-914 h?v=UZZdi6k8Igl
Freeplay 2012 Ford Fusion Comparison http://www.youtube.com/watc
13 [Violin Fight Music LLC Feature 06/29/2012 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-914 h?v=vA6RHzxs4fo
http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay Focus Challenge - Semana #2 - dpuertorico/videos/13644707
14 |Southsea Music LLC Equipo #1 06/15/2011 | 1/30/2006{SR 386-596 9766784



https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037275
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037275
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037275
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037264
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037264
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037264
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Rrne7yFTWD4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Rrne7yFTWD4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N5r1Ur-l3UM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N5r1Ur-l3UM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rZWzPTNmk6M
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rZWzPTNmk6M
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sWlWSWrgrOo
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sWlWSWrgrOo
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tb6m4x2zz20
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tb6m4x2zz20
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UZZdi6k8lgI
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UZZdi6k8lgI
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vA6RHzxs4fo
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vA6RHzxs4fo
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165656
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165656
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165656
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http://www.facebook.com/for

Freeplay Focus Challenge - Semana #2 - dpuertorico/videos/13644707
15 |Sand Storms Music LLC Equipo #1 06/15/2011 | 1/30/2006|SR 386-596 9766784
http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay Focus Challenge - Semana #3 - dpuertorico/videos/13646255
16 |Honor Music LLC Equipo #1 06/15/2011 8/6/2003|SR 335-926 3098570
http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay Focus Challenge - Semana #4 - dpuertorico/videos/13660252
17 |The Phoenix Music LLC Equipo #1 06/16/2011 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-913 3084573
http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay Focus Challenge - Semana #4 - dpuertorico/videos/13660252
18 |Guittarras Calientes|Music LLC Equipo #1 06/16/2011 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-913 3084573
http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay Aqui el video de la Feria de Autos dpuertorico/videos/34498847
19 |Swingtime Music LLC Antiguos. jQue lo disfruten! 02/21/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 334-609 34285
Aqui el video de la Feria de Autos
Antiguos, que se llevé a cabo el http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay pasado fin de semana. jQue lo dpuertorico/videos/34499042
20 [Swingtime Music LLC disfruten! 02/21/2012 | 7/31/2003[SR 334-609 14772
iFelicidades a Perla Sofia Curbelo
por haber ganado el Ford PRIAS
Blogger Challenge!
Chequea su cobertura del # http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay PRIAS2013 y visita su blog aqui: dpuertorico/videos/59965164
21 |Jubilee Music LLC http://agrochic.com/ 11/08/2013 | 1/23/2006{SR 382-040 0091579
Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
22 [Mission 50 Music LLC Activacdo Ford B-MAX Lisboa 11/28/2012 | 7/31/2003[SR 337-557 h?v=-0e5Bet0DN8
Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
23 |Call To Me Vocal [Music LLC Activacdo Ford B-MAX Lisboa 11/28/2012 | 7/31/2003[SR 333-651 h?v=29DW23iMZVqg
Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
24 |Flying Bass Music LLC Activacéo Ford B-MAX Lisboa 11/28/2012 | 1/30/2006{SR 378-924 h?v=H1Ek4LHIGaw
Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
25 [Race To Action Music LLC Activacdo Ford B-MAX Lisboa 11/28/2012 | 7/31/2003[SR 335-613 h?v=NM5Q6bVIr7s



https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165656
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165656
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165656
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165647
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165647
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165647
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165638
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165638
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165638
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165638
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165638
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165638
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165625
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165625
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165625
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165624
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165624
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165624
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165601
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165601
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165601
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-0e5Bet0DN8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-0e5Bet0DN8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=29DW23iMZVg
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=29DW23iMZVg
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=H1Ek4LHIGaw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=H1Ek4LHIGaw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NM5Q6bVIr7s
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NM5Q6bVIr7s
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Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
26 |Asian Psycho Music LLC Activacéo Ford B-MAX Lisboa 11/28/2012 | 1/30/2006(SR 386-596 h?v=pe7LJVHOeO8

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
27 |Race To Action Music LLC Making of Ford B-MAX Lisboa 01/18/2013 | 7/31/2003|SR 335-613 h?v=sjqu6PQbhog

Freeplay Testing the Escape Hands- Free http://www.youtube.com/watc
28 [Going Gone Music LLC Liftgate 05/20/2012 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-912 h?v=cJvfY3ZpVNU

Freeplay Ford Fiesta Titanium -- DPS6 -- http://www.youtube.com/watc
29 |Imitator Music LLC Powershift -- Selectshift 04/08/2014 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-912 h?v=1rMrBNfuy M

Ford Fiesta Titanium -- Sistema

Freeplay de navegacion activado por voz - http://www.youtube.com/watc
30 [Imitator Music LLC GPS. 04/08/2014 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-912 h?v=-cEnbzwfUqU

Freeplay Ford Fiesta Titanium -- Control de http://www.youtube.com/watc
31 |Imitator Music LLC Estabilidad Electronico 04/08/2014 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-912 h?v=l40WxUx hio

Freeplay Ford Fiesta Titanium -- Asistencia http://www.youtube.com/watc
32 [Imitator Music LLC de arranque en pendientes 04/08/2014 | 1/23/2006[SR 374-912 h?v=NRXVN9Z3feM

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
33 [Imitator Music LLC Ford Fiesta Titanium 2013 12/06/2013 | 1/23/2006{SR 374-912 h?v=rIn9I3hYsMO

Freeplay Agentermois. Invitacion a "Vi un http://www.youtube.com/watc
34 |Swing Cheeze Music LLC Fiesta en Facebook" 07/01/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-557 h?v=ViIbdalpc87Y

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
35 [Bouncing Music LLC Ford Focus 2015 - Disefo 03/03/2015 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=FFwY7KodLDc

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
36 |Grunge Garage Music LLC Test Drive Ecosport Playa 06/25/2015 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=yttIcDAWUX0

Freeplay Caracteristicas Ford Ranger 2017 http://www.youtube.com/watc
37 [Knife Fight Music LLC | Ford de México 10/17/2016 | 7/31/2003[SR 333-651 h?v=5N0azJsEvYA

Freeplay Ford Fiesta Titanium -- SYNC http://www.youtube.com/watc
38 [Imitator Music LLC MyFordTouch 04/08/2014 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-912 h?v=g7Cig1W8Lcl

Freeplay Ford Fiesta Titanium -- Camara http://www.youtube.com/watc
39 |Imitator Music LLC de Retroceso 04/08/2014 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-912 h?v=Q-G9rey48el

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Claudio http://www.youtube.com/watc
40 |Cincinnatti Patty Music LLC Paz 08/15/2011 | 1/30/2006|SR 378-924 h?v=3b630rvUMEs

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Claudio http://www.youtube.com/watc
41 |As Nasty Music LLC Paz 08/15/2011 | 1/29/2007|SR 411-915 h?v=3b630rvUMEs

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Daniel http://www.youtube.com/watc
42 |Grunge Garage Music LLC Nunes 08/15/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=4G1UrIRh5sY



https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pe7LJVHOeO8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pe7LJVHOeO8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sjgu6PQbhog
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sjgu6PQbhog
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cJvfY3ZpVNU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cJvfY3ZpVNU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1rMrBNfuy_M
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1rMrBNfuy_M
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-cEnbzwfUqU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-cEnbzwfUqU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=l4oWxUx_hio
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=l4oWxUx_hio
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NRXVN9Z3feM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NRXVN9Z3feM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rIn9I3hYsM0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rIn9I3hYsM0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VIbdaIpc87Y
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VIbdaIpc87Y
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FFwY7KodLDc
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FFwY7KodLDc
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yttI6DAwUX0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yttI6DAwUX0
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5N0azJsEvYA
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5N0azJsEvYA
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=g7Cig1W8LcI
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=g7Cig1W8LcI
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Q-G9rey48eI
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Q-G9rey48eI
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3b63OrvUMEs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3b63OrvUMEs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3b63OrvUMEs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3b63OrvUMEs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4G1UrIRh5sY
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4G1UrIRh5sY
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Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Yvan http://www.youtube.com/watc
43 |Resource Music LLC Augusto 08/20/2011 | 7/31/2003[SR 336-994 h?v=alfXu3aHHww

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Juan http://www.youtube.com/watc
44 |Shopping Spree Music LLC Pereira 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 334-609 h?v=C195fnZn0O00

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
45 [Thunderization Music LLC Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Jose A. |08/17/2011 | 1/30/2006{SR 386-596 h?v=eaOdcxzbb 4

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Liam http://www.youtube.com/watc
46 [Praise Music LLC Supersonic 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003[SR 337-200 h?v=e0J2AKkNINNO

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Liam http://www.youtube.com/watc
47 |Blue Music LLC Supersonic 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=e0J2AKNONNO

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Liam http://www.youtube.com/watc
48 [Holdin Back Music LLC Supersonic 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-201 h?v=e0J2AKkNINNO

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Jose http://www.youtube.com/watc
49 |A Walk in the Sun |Music LLC Marcano 08/16/2011 | 1/23/2006[SR 382-040 h?v=i{QraaFLT8Vs

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Jose http://www.youtube.com/watc
50 |Queberts Canasta |Music LLC Marcano 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 334-609 h?v=iQraaFLT8Vs

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Jose http://www.youtube.com/watc
51 |Happy Now Music LLC Angel Gomez Cabada 08/15/2011 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-913 h?v=LIQpX|RITfE

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Ana http://www.youtube.com/watc
52 |Walkin The Dog Music LLC Yure 08/15/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-201 h?v=N78nMPep4P0

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Ana http://www.youtube.com/watc
53 [Warriors & Knights [Music LLC Yure 08/15/2011 | 1/30/2006|SR 386-596 h?v=N78nMPep4P0

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Ana http://www.youtube.com/watc
54 |Etude Blanc Music LLC Yure 08/15/2011 8/4/2003|SR 337-059 h?v=N78nMPep4P0

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Oriana http://www.youtube.com/watc
55 |Moving Out Music LLC Bello 08/15/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-221 h?v=N-ul8FH|CK4

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Norma http://www.youtube.com/watc
56 |Drain The Lizard Music LLC Pedrique 08/15/2011 | 1/30/2006|SR 386-596 h?v=04KBINWIalA

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Lenin http://www.youtube.com/watc
57 [Moving Out Music LLC Pernia Montilva 08/15/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-221 h?v=s8kgzXzCvww

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Michael http://www.youtube.com/watc
58 |Soul Thang Music LLC Pampus 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-201 h?v=TEm ITmVqlE

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Moises http://www.youtube.com/watc
59 [Morning Sunrise Music LLC Bermudez 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-636 h?v=tIN3GmUhmI g

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Jesus http://www.youtube.com/watc
60 [Wings Of The Wind[Music LLC Alberto Pernia Castro 08/15/2011 8/6/2003|SR 335-926 h?v=wG4hsqUumBY



https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aIfXu3aHHww
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aIfXu3aHHww
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=C1g5fnZnO0o
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=C1g5fnZnO0o
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eaOdcxzbb_4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eaOdcxzbb_4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eoJ2AkN9NN0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eoJ2AkN9NN0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eoJ2AkN9NN0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eoJ2AkN9NN0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eoJ2AkN9NN0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eoJ2AkN9NN0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jQraaFLT8Vs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jQraaFLT8Vs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jQraaFLT8Vs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jQraaFLT8Vs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LlQpXjRiTfE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LlQpXjRiTfE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N78nMPep4P0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N78nMPep4P0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N78nMPep4P0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N78nMPep4P0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N78nMPep4P0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N78nMPep4P0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N-uI8FHjCK4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N-uI8FHjCK4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=o4KBlNWIalA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=o4KBlNWIalA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=s8kgzXzCvww
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=s8kgzXzCvww
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TFm_ITmVqlE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TFm_ITmVqlE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tN3GmUhmI_g
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tN3GmUhmI_g
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wG4hsqUumBY
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wG4hsqUumBY
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Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
61 |Bouncing Music LLC Ford Fiesta Powershift Automatic |04/23/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=Gu EKcUSs8A

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
62 |Bouncing Music LLC Ford Ka - Messenger edition 03/25/2010 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=imnnNyOhF7A

John Force Racing 2012 Preview:

Freeplay Mike Neff and Robert Hight | Drag http://www.youtube.com/watc
63 [Patrol Music LLC Racing | Ford Performance 02/08/2012 | 9/22/2008[SR 633-487 h?v=Y2HQ5MUFnAQ

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
64 [Race To Action Music LLC Ford Exclusive Drive 03/19/2014 | 7/31/2003|SR 335-613 h?v=edF8GaS9g-8

Freeplay Primeiro test-drive do http://www.youtube.com/watc
65 |Grunge Garage Music LLC #NovoEcoSport | Ford Ecosport  |08/06/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=efl1gTOsvwM

Freeplay #NovoEcoSport em Natal | Ford http://www.youtube.com/watc
66 |Grunge Garage Music LLC Ecosport 08/09/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=t1VsjO5H4e4

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
67 |Wings Of The Wind|Music LLC Computador de Bordo 01/30/2013 8/6/2003|SR 335-926 h?v=7Ce8CZpViBU

Freeplay Campo de Provas em Tatui | http://www.youtube.com/watc
68 |[Hula Balu Music LLC Qualidade Ford | Ford 06/01/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-212 h?v=97ZK4dTh3qg-s

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
69 [Clear Music LLC Porta - Objetos | Ford EcoSport  |01/12/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=FLsPuiLrKUc

Freeplay Fas visitam o Campo de Provas http://www.youtube.com/watc
70 [Summer Trip Music LLC da Ford | Ford Ecosport 03/13/2012 | 1/30/2006{SR 386-596 h?v=HofUIHMOI6E

Freeplay Fas visitam o Campo de Provas http://www.youtube.com/watc
71 |[Lighter Fluid Music LLC da Ford | Ford Ecosport 03/13/2012 | 7/31/2003[SR 337-205 h?v=HofUIHMOI6E

Freeplay Producao de motores globais | http://www.youtube.com/watc
72 |Drop The Bomb Music LLC Qualidade Ford | Ford 03/13/2012 1/7/2009(SR 633-494 h?v=k4G3XC8bZyM

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
73 [Bolo Punch Music LLC 4WD | Ford EcoSport 02/13/2012 | 7/31/2003[SR 335-543 h?v=loCIIRUNXZg

Freeplay Blogueiros e fas comentam o http://www.youtube.com/watc
74 |Grunge Garage Music LLC #NovoEcoSport | Ford Ecosport  |09/12/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=t608svtLIYO



https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Gu_EKcUSs8A
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Gu_EKcUSs8A
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=imnnNy0hF7A
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=imnnNy0hF7A
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Y2HQ5MUFnAQ
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Y2HQ5MUFnAQ
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=edF8GaS9g-8
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=edF8GaS9g-8
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=efl1gTOsvvM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=efl1gTOsvvM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t1VsjO5H4e4
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t1VsjO5H4e4
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7Ce8CZpVtBU
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7Ce8CZpVtBU
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9ZK4dTh3q-s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9ZK4dTh3q-s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FLsPuiLrKUc
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FLsPuiLrKUc
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HofUlHM0i6E
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HofUlHM0i6E
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HofUlHM0i6E
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HofUlHM0i6E
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=k4G3XC8bZyM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=k4G3XC8bZyM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=loCllRUNXZg
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=loCllRUNXZg
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t6O8svtLlY0
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t6O8svtLlY0
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Exhibit C 1
Exhibit C Infringing Uses Discovered After Notice
Copyright Upload Copyright [Copyright
Use |Title Claimant Infringing Video Title Date Date Registration [Page URL
Veiculo global, made in Brazil:
confira os melhores momentos da
revelagao do #KaConcept, o novo http://www.facebook.com/For
Freeplay carro da Ford que chega em dBrasil/videos/10152085468
1 [Pulse Music LLC 2014. 05/30/2019 | 7/31/2003|SR 335-537 469276
O Ford Mustang acaba de
desembarcar. Confira 0 momento http://www.facebook.com/For
Freeplay em que esse icone, indomavel por dBrasil/videos/19884870911
2 [Bad Moon Music LLC instinto, apareceu por aqui. 11/29/2017 8/4/2003|SR 336-939 68629
Um verdadeiro icone merece uma
apresentagao inesquecivel.
Assista os melhores momentos da
festa de chegada do Ford http://www.facebook.com/For
Freeplay Mustang no Brasil, no Jockey dBrasil/videos/19954528704
3 |Get Up Music LLC Club de S&o Paulo. 07/28/2019 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-845 72051
O Novo Ford Cargo Power
acelerou e mostrou toda a sua
poténcia em Interlagos, no Test http://www.facebook.com/For
Freeplay Drive que aconteceu na Copa dCaminhoes/videos/1646018
4 |Funky Catch Music LLC Truck em Sao Paulo. 08/06/2019 | 7/31/2003[SR 337-058 112371973



https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038264
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038264
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038264
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038145
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038145
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038145
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038140
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038140
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2038140
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037247
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037247
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037247
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Nao faltou emogao na etapa que
abriu a temporada 2018 da Copa
Truck, em Cascavel, no Parana.
O lugar mais alto do pddio ficou
com Wellington Cirino na primeira
corrida e com o estreante Giuliano
Losacco na segunda. A préxima
etapa acontece dia 15 de abril, em

http://www.facebook.com/For

Freeplay Guaporé-RS e claro que a Ford dCaminhoes/videos/1712084
5 |Against The Grain [Music LLC estara la! 07/29/2019 8/4/2003|SR 336-918 595527996
Quer saber o que esta por tras da
montagem de um caminh&o de http://www.facebook.com/For
Freeplay corrida? Confira no video como dCaminhoes/videos/2275021
6 |Down And Dirty Music LLC nasce um Ford Copa Truck. 08/06/2019 8/4/2003|SR 336-918 57918017
Freeplay Mustang 2018 - Evento de Pré- http://www.youtube.com/watc
7 [Bad Moon Music LLC Estreia no Brasil 12/06/2017 8/4/2003|SR 336-939 h?v=Rrne7yFTWD4
Freeplay Primeiro Test-drive do Novo http://www.youtube.com/watc
8 |Grunge Garage Music LLC EcoSport 08/09/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=N5r1Ur-I3UM
Freeplay O Novo EcoSport veio para provar http://www.youtube.com/watc
9 |Wings Of The Wind|Music LLC qgue de tecnologia ele entende! 05/23/2013 8/6/2003|SR 335-926 h?v=rZWzPTNmk6M
Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
10 |Glow Music LLC 2012 Ford Focus Comparison 06/29/2012 | 1/23/2006[SR 374-912 h?2v=sWIWSWrgrOo
Jonathan Huberdeau Coaches
Four Lucky Players at Florida
Freeplay Panthers Hockey Summer Camp http://www.youtube.com/watc
11 |Heartland Music LLC 2013 01/24/2014 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-200 h?v=tb6m4x2zz20
Freeplay 2012 Ford Edge Comparison http://www.youtube.com/watc
12 |Close Encounters |[Music LLC Feature 06/29/2012 | 1/23/2006[SR 374-914 h?v=UZZdi6k8Igl
Freeplay 2012 Ford Fusion Comparison http://www.youtube.com/watc
13 [Violin Fight Music LLC Feature 06/29/2012 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-914 h?v=vA6RHzxs4fo
http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay Focus Challenge - Semana #2 - dpuertorico/videos/13644707
14 |Southsea Music LLC Equipo #1 06/15/2011 | 1/30/2006{SR 386-596 9766784



https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037275
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037275
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037275
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037264
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037264
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/2037264
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Rrne7yFTWD4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Rrne7yFTWD4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N5r1Ur-l3UM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N5r1Ur-l3UM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rZWzPTNmk6M
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rZWzPTNmk6M
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sWlWSWrgrOo
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sWlWSWrgrOo
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tb6m4x2zz20
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tb6m4x2zz20
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UZZdi6k8lgI
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UZZdi6k8lgI
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vA6RHzxs4fo
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vA6RHzxs4fo
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165656
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165656
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165656
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http://www.facebook.com/for

Freeplay Focus Challenge - Semana #2 - dpuertorico/videos/13644707
15 |Sand Storms Music LLC Equipo #1 06/15/2011 | 1/30/2006|SR 386-596 9766784
http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay Focus Challenge - Semana #3 - dpuertorico/videos/13646255
16 |Honor Music LLC Equipo #1 06/15/2011 8/6/2003|SR 335-926 3098570
http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay Focus Challenge - Semana #4 - dpuertorico/videos/13660252
17 |The Phoenix Music LLC Equipo #1 06/16/2011 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-913 3084573
http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay Focus Challenge - Semana #4 - dpuertorico/videos/13660252
18 |Guittarras Calientes|Music LLC Equipo #1 06/16/2011 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-913 3084573
http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay Aqui el video de la Feria de Autos dpuertorico/videos/34498847
19 |Swingtime Music LLC Antiguos. jQue lo disfruten! 02/21/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 334-609 34285
Aqui el video de la Feria de Autos
Antiguos, que se llevé a cabo el http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay pasado fin de semana. jQue lo dpuertorico/videos/34499042
20 [Swingtime Music LLC disfruten! 02/21/2012 | 7/31/2003[SR 334-609 14772
iFelicidades a Perla Sofia Curbelo
por haber ganado el Ford PRIAS
Blogger Challenge!
Chequea su cobertura del # http://www.facebook.com/for
Freeplay PRIAS2013 y visita su blog aqui: dpuertorico/videos/59965164
21 |Jubilee Music LLC http://agrochic.com/ 11/08/2013 | 1/23/2006{SR 382-040 0091579
Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
22 [Mission 50 Music LLC Activacdo Ford B-MAX Lisboa 11/28/2012 | 7/31/2003[SR 337-557 h?v=-0e5Bet0DN8
Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
23 |Call To Me Vocal [Music LLC Activacdo Ford B-MAX Lisboa 11/28/2012 | 7/31/2003[SR 333-651 h?v=29DW23iMZVqg
Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
24 |Flying Bass Music LLC Activacéo Ford B-MAX Lisboa 11/28/2012 | 1/30/2006{SR 378-924 h?v=H1Ek4LHIGaw
Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
25 [Race To Action Music LLC Activacdo Ford B-MAX Lisboa 11/28/2012 | 7/31/2003[SR 335-613 h?v=NM5Q6bVIr7s



https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165656
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165656
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165656
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165647
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165647
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165647
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165638
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165638
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165638
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165638
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165638
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165638
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165625
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165625
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165625
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165624
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165624
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165624
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165601
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165601
https://django1.tunesat.com/dl_link/FB/1165601
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-0e5Bet0DN8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-0e5Bet0DN8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=29DW23iMZVg
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=29DW23iMZVg
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=H1Ek4LHIGaw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=H1Ek4LHIGaw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NM5Q6bVIr7s
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NM5Q6bVIr7s
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Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
26 |Asian Psycho Music LLC Activacéo Ford B-MAX Lisboa 11/28/2012 | 1/30/2006(SR 386-596 h?v=pe7LJVHOeO8

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
27 |Race To Action Music LLC Making of Ford B-MAX Lisboa 01/18/2013 | 7/31/2003|SR 335-613 h?v=sjqu6PQbhog

Freeplay Testing the Escape Hands- Free http://www.youtube.com/watc
28 [Going Gone Music LLC Liftgate 05/20/2012 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-912 h?v=cJvfY3ZpVNU

Freeplay Ford Fiesta Titanium -- DPS6 -- http://www.youtube.com/watc
29 |Imitator Music LLC Powershift -- Selectshift 04/08/2014 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-912 h?v=1rMrBNfuy M

Ford Fiesta Titanium -- Sistema

Freeplay de navegacion activado por voz - http://www.youtube.com/watc
30 [Imitator Music LLC GPS. 04/08/2014 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-912 h?v=-cEnbzwfUqU

Freeplay Ford Fiesta Titanium -- Control de http://www.youtube.com/watc
31 |Imitator Music LLC Estabilidad Electronico 04/08/2014 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-912 h?v=l40WxUx hio

Freeplay Ford Fiesta Titanium -- Asistencia http://www.youtube.com/watc
32 [Imitator Music LLC de arranque en pendientes 04/08/2014 | 1/23/2006[SR 374-912 h?v=NRXVN9Z3feM

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
33 [Imitator Music LLC Ford Fiesta Titanium 2013 12/06/2013 | 1/23/2006{SR 374-912 h?v=rIn9I3hYsMO

Freeplay Agentermois. Invitacion a "Vi un http://www.youtube.com/watc
34 |Swing Cheeze Music LLC Fiesta en Facebook" 07/01/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-557 h?v=ViIbdalpc87Y

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
35 [Bouncing Music LLC Ford Focus 2015 - Disefo 03/03/2015 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=FFwY7KodLDc

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
36 |Grunge Garage Music LLC Test Drive Ecosport Playa 06/25/2015 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=yttIcDAWUX0

Freeplay Caracteristicas Ford Ranger 2017 http://www.youtube.com/watc
37 [Knife Fight Music LLC | Ford de México 10/17/2016 | 7/31/2003[SR 333-651 h?v=5N0azJsEvYA

Freeplay Ford Fiesta Titanium -- SYNC http://www.youtube.com/watc
38 [Imitator Music LLC MyFordTouch 04/08/2014 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-912 h?v=g7Cig1W8Lcl

Freeplay Ford Fiesta Titanium -- Camara http://www.youtube.com/watc
39 |Imitator Music LLC de Retroceso 04/08/2014 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-912 h?v=Q-G9rey48el

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Claudio http://www.youtube.com/watc
40 |Cincinnatti Patty Music LLC Paz 08/15/2011 | 1/30/2006|SR 378-924 h?v=3b630rvUMEs

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Claudio http://www.youtube.com/watc
41 |As Nasty Music LLC Paz 08/15/2011 | 1/29/2007|SR 411-915 h?v=3b630rvUMEs

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Daniel http://www.youtube.com/watc
42 |Grunge Garage Music LLC Nunes 08/15/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=4G1UrIRh5sY



https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pe7LJVHOeO8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pe7LJVHOeO8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sjgu6PQbhog
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sjgu6PQbhog
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cJvfY3ZpVNU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cJvfY3ZpVNU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1rMrBNfuy_M
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1rMrBNfuy_M
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-cEnbzwfUqU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-cEnbzwfUqU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=l4oWxUx_hio
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=l4oWxUx_hio
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NRXVN9Z3feM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NRXVN9Z3feM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rIn9I3hYsM0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=rIn9I3hYsM0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VIbdaIpc87Y
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VIbdaIpc87Y
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FFwY7KodLDc
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FFwY7KodLDc
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yttI6DAwUX0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=yttI6DAwUX0
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5N0azJsEvYA
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5N0azJsEvYA
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=g7Cig1W8LcI
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=g7Cig1W8LcI
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Q-G9rey48eI
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Q-G9rey48eI
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3b63OrvUMEs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3b63OrvUMEs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3b63OrvUMEs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3b63OrvUMEs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4G1UrIRh5sY
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4G1UrIRh5sY
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Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Yvan http://www.youtube.com/watc
43 |Resource Music LLC Augusto 08/20/2011 | 7/31/2003[SR 336-994 h?v=alfXu3aHHww

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Juan http://www.youtube.com/watc
44 |Shopping Spree Music LLC Pereira 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 334-609 h?v=C195fnZn0O00

Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
45 [Thunderization Music LLC Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Jose A. |08/17/2011 | 1/30/2006{SR 386-596 h?v=eaOdcxzbb 4

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Liam http://www.youtube.com/watc
46 [Praise Music LLC Supersonic 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003[SR 337-200 h?v=e0J2AKkNINNO

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Liam http://www.youtube.com/watc
47 |Blue Music LLC Supersonic 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=e0J2AKNONNO

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Liam http://www.youtube.com/watc
48 [Holdin Back Music LLC Supersonic 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-201 h?v=e0J2AKkNINNO

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Jose http://www.youtube.com/watc
49 |A Walk in the Sun |Music LLC Marcano 08/16/2011 | 1/23/2006[SR 382-040 h?v=i{QraaFLT8Vs

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Jose http://www.youtube.com/watc
50 |Queberts Canasta |Music LLC Marcano 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 334-609 h?v=iQraaFLT8Vs

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Jose http://www.youtube.com/watc
51 |Happy Now Music LLC Angel Gomez Cabada 08/15/2011 | 1/23/2006|SR 374-913 h?v=LIQpX|RITfE

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Ana http://www.youtube.com/watc
52 |Walkin The Dog Music LLC Yure 08/15/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-201 h?v=N78nMPep4P0

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Ana http://www.youtube.com/watc
53 [Warriors & Knights [Music LLC Yure 08/15/2011 | 1/30/2006|SR 386-596 h?v=N78nMPep4P0

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Ana http://www.youtube.com/watc
54 |Etude Blanc Music LLC Yure 08/15/2011 8/4/2003|SR 337-059 h?v=N78nMPep4P0

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Oriana http://www.youtube.com/watc
55 |Moving Out Music LLC Bello 08/15/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-221 h?v=N-ul8FH|CK4

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Norma http://www.youtube.com/watc
56 |Drain The Lizard Music LLC Pedrique 08/15/2011 | 1/30/2006|SR 386-596 h?v=04KBINWIalA

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Lenin http://www.youtube.com/watc
57 [Moving Out Music LLC Pernia Montilva 08/15/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-221 h?v=s8kgzXzCvww

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Michael http://www.youtube.com/watc
58 |Soul Thang Music LLC Pampus 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-201 h?v=TEm ITmVqlE

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Moises http://www.youtube.com/watc
59 [Morning Sunrise Music LLC Bermudez 08/16/2011 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-636 h?v=tIN3GmUhmI g

Freeplay Ford Vi Un Fiesta.move / Jesus http://www.youtube.com/watc
60 [Wings Of The Wind[Music LLC Alberto Pernia Castro 08/15/2011 8/6/2003|SR 335-926 h?v=wG4hsqUumBY



https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aIfXu3aHHww
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aIfXu3aHHww
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=C1g5fnZnO0o
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=C1g5fnZnO0o
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eaOdcxzbb_4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eaOdcxzbb_4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eoJ2AkN9NN0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eoJ2AkN9NN0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eoJ2AkN9NN0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eoJ2AkN9NN0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eoJ2AkN9NN0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eoJ2AkN9NN0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jQraaFLT8Vs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jQraaFLT8Vs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jQraaFLT8Vs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jQraaFLT8Vs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LlQpXjRiTfE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=LlQpXjRiTfE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N78nMPep4P0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N78nMPep4P0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N78nMPep4P0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N78nMPep4P0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N78nMPep4P0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N78nMPep4P0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N-uI8FHjCK4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N-uI8FHjCK4
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=o4KBlNWIalA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=o4KBlNWIalA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=s8kgzXzCvww
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=s8kgzXzCvww
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TFm_ITmVqlE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=TFm_ITmVqlE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tN3GmUhmI_g
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tN3GmUhmI_g
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wG4hsqUumBY
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wG4hsqUumBY
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Exhibit C 6
Freeplay http://www.youtube.com/watc
61 |Bouncing Music LLC Ford Fiesta Powershift Automatic |04/23/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 h?v=Gu EKcUSs8A
John Force Racing 2012 Preview:
Freeplay Mike Neff and Robert Hight | Drag http://www.youtube.com/watc
62 [Patrol Music LLC Racing | Ford Performance 02/08/2012 | 9/22/2008[SR 633-487 h?v=Y2HQ5MUFnAQ



https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Gu_EKcUSs8A
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Gu_EKcUSs8A
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Y2HQ5MUFnAQ
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Y2HQ5MUFnAQ
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Exhibit D 1
Exhibit D Infringing Uses Included in Notice
Copyright Upload Copyright |Copyright
Use |Title Claimant Infringing Video Title Date Date Registration [Page URL
http://www.youtube.com
Freeplay Ford Ka - Messenger /watch?v=imnnNyOhF7
1 [Bouncing Music LLC edition 03/25/2010 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 A
http://www.youtube.com
Freeplay /watch?v=edF8GaS9g-
2 |Race To Action [Music LLC Ford Exclusive Drive 03/19/2014 | 7/31/2003|SR 335-613 8
Primeiro test-drive do
Grunge Freeplay #NovoEcoSport | Ford http://www.youtube.com
3 |Garage Music LLC Ecosport 08/06/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 /watch?v=efl1gTOsvvM
Grunge Freeplay #NovoEcoSport em http://www.youtube.com
4 |Garage Music LLC Natal | Ford Ecosport 08/09/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 /watch?v=t1VsjO5H4e4
http://www.youtube.com
Wings Of The |[Freeplay Iwatch?v=7Ce8CZpVtB
5 [Wind Music LLC Computador de Bordo  |01/30/2013 8/6/2003|SR 335-926 U
Campo de Provas em
Freeplay Tatui | Qualidade Ford | http://www.youtube.com
6 |Hula Balu Music LLC Ford 06/01/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-212 /watch?v=9ZK4dTh3qg-s
Freeplay Porta - Objetos | Ford http://www.youtube.com
7 |Clear Music LLC EcoSport 01/12/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 /watch?v=FLsPuiLrKUc
Fas visitam o Campo de
Freeplay Provas da Ford | Ford http://www.youtube.com
8 |Summer Trip [Music LLC Ecosport 03/13/2012 | 1/30/2006|SR 386-596 /watch?v=HofUIHMOIGE
Fas visitam o Campo de
Freeplay Provas da Ford | Ford http://www.youtube.com
9 |Lighter Fluid  |Music LLC Ecosport 03/13/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 337-205 /watch?v=HofUIHMOIGE
Produgao de motores http://www.youtube.com
Drop The Freeplay globais | Qualidade Ford /watch?v=k4G3XC8bZy
10 |Bomb Music LLC | Ford 03/13/2012 1/7/2009(SR 633-494 M
Freeplay http://www.youtube.com
11 |Bolo Punch Music LLC 4WD | Ford EcoSport 02/13/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 335-543 /watch?v=loCIIRUNXZg



http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=imnnNy0hF7A
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=imnnNy0hF7A
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=imnnNy0hF7A
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=edF8GaS9g-8
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=edF8GaS9g-8
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=edF8GaS9g-8
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=efl1gTOsvvM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=efl1gTOsvvM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t1VsjO5H4e4
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t1VsjO5H4e4
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7Ce8CZpVtBU
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7Ce8CZpVtBU
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7Ce8CZpVtBU
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9ZK4dTh3q-s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9ZK4dTh3q-s
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FLsPuiLrKUc
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FLsPuiLrKUc
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HofUlHM0i6E
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HofUlHM0i6E
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HofUlHM0i6E
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HofUlHM0i6E
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=k4G3XC8bZyM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=k4G3XC8bZyM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=k4G3XC8bZyM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=loCllRUNXZg
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=loCllRUNXZg
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Exhibit D 2
Blogueiros e fas
comentam o
Grunge Freeplay #NovoEcoSport | Ford http://www.youtube.com
12 |Garage Music LLC Ecosport 09/12/2012 | 7/31/2003|SR 333-651 /watch?v=t608svtLIYO



http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t6O8svtLlY0
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t6O8svtLlY0
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